
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 17 February 2020. 
 01476 406080

Paul Thomas, Interim Chief Executive
www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

    

Tuesday, 25 February 2020 at 10.00 am
Witham Room - South Kesteven House, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ

Committee 
Members:

Councillor Chris Benn (Chairman)
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Ashley Baxter, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor 
Nikki Manterfield and Councillor Mrs Judy Smith

Invited 
Cabinet 

Members

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the Council
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning

Agenda
1.  Comments from Members of the public

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion.

2.  Membership
The committee to be notified of any substitute members.

3.  Apologies

4.  Disclosure of Interests
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting.

Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


5.  Action Notes from the meeting held on 26 November 2019 (Pages 3 - 11)

6.  Updates from the previous meeting

7.  Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy
Feedback from the Committee’s joint workshop with the Licensing Committee.

(Pages 13 - 14)

8.  Update from the Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group
Presentation outlining the suggested recommendations for LED lights and 
paper reduction.

(Pages 15 - 20)

9.  Single use plastic aspirations
Discussion item with a presentation to consider actions that could be taken to 
reduce single use plastic.

(Pages 21 - 23)

10.  Food Waste Collection and Disposal
Presentation giving an update on the progress of the food waste collection trial.

(Pages 25 - 28)

11.  Trees in South Kesteven
Presentations to consider aspects of trees and tree management in South 
Kesteven, including an overview of tree information for the district, Tree 
Protection Orders and the potential for rewilding and introducing natural 
meadows.

(Pages 29 - 44)

12.  Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent



Meeting of the
Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
Tuesday, 26 November 2019, 10.30 am

Committee Members present

Councillor Chris Benn (Chairman)
Councillor John Cottier (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Ashley Baxter
Councillor Phil Dilks

Councillor Gloria Johnson
Councillor Nikki Manterfield
Councillor Mrs Judy Smith

Cabinet Members

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations

Other Members present

Councillor Jacky Smith

Officers

Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations (Gary Smith)
Assistant Director, Commercial and Operations (Ian Yates)
Head of Environmental (Anne-Marie Coulthard)
Scrutiny Officer (Zena West)
Democratic Officer (Naomi Page)

The Chairman stated that the meeting was his first as the new Chairman of the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee. He wished to thank his 
predecessor, Councillor Trollope-Bellew, for the work she had contributed to the 
committee. He also introduced the council’s Scrutiny Officer who would be 
providing additional support to the Overview and Scrutiny Committees moving 
forward.  

20. Apologies

There were no apologies received. 

3

Agenda Item 5



21. Disclosure of Interests

No interests were disclosed. 

22. Action Notes from the meeting held on 17 September 2019

The action notes of the meeting held on 17 September 2019 were agreed as a 
correct record. 

23. Updates from the previous meeting

During item 15 at the previous meeting, Members had asked that an officer 
from the Planning department be invited to attend a future meeting of the 
committee, in order to provide further information regarding Tree Protection 
Orders. It was confirmed that the Planning department had been informed that 
an officer would be required to attend. Once the committee had confirmed at 
which future meeting it wished to consider trees in further detail, an invitation 
would be extended to the relevant officer. The committee also requested an 
updated version of the ‘South Kesteven District Council Member Tree 
Notification Protocol’ document, following the implementation of the suggested 
amendments from the previous meeting.

Action point

 An updated version of the ‘South Kesteven District Council 
Member Tree Notification Protocol’ document to be circulated to 
members of the committee 

Members asked when the further information detailing the costs involved in 
the collection and disposal of food waste would be provided in the new year. 
The Chairman confirmed that this item could be added to the 25 February 
2020 meeting. 

Action point

 ‘Food waste collection and disposal’ to be added to the Work 
Programme for the February meeting of the committee 

24. Position Statement on the Intentional Release of Sky (Chinese) Lanterns 
and Balloons

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations introduced his report 
regarding the Council’s Position Statement on the Intentional Release of Sky 
(Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons, appended to which was the draft Position 
Statement. This had been developed in response to environmental concerns 
nationally surrounding the release of sky lanterns and balloons and the lack of 
control over where they land after release. Members were asked if they had 
any questions in relation to the report or the draft Position Statement:

4



 Members asked whether the Position Statement was enforceable. The 
report stated that the statement would not be legally enforceable. The 
Cabinet Member for Commercial Operations explained that the aim of 
the Position Statement was to prevent the release of these items on 
Council-owned land in the first instance, therefore negating the need for 
any enforcement action to be taken. 

 Officers were asked if there had been any incidences of environmental 
impact as a result of the intentional release of sky lanterns or balloons 
in South Kesteven. It was explained that there had not been any known 
releases on Council-owned land in South Kesteven, but along with 84 
other Local Authorities, the Council had considered the development of 
a Position Statement prudent as a preventative measure moving 
forward. 

 Members referred to the Equality Impact Analysis and asked if any of 
the affected minority groups had been consulted throughout the 
development of the Position Statement. Officers explained that as the 
Position Statement was currently a draft there had not been the need to 
consult on it. If Cabinet agreed to adopt the Position Statement, it 
would be consulted on at that stage. 

Recommendation 

 That the Position Statement on the Intentional Release of Sky 
(Chinese) Lanterns and Balloons is considered by Cabinet for 
adoption 

 That the minority groups potentially affected by the adoption of 
the Position Statement be consulted when the final document has 
been agreed

      
   

25. Scrap metal dealers

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations presented the report 
providing an update on the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013. The report outlined 
the Council’s responsibilities under the Act, which had been introduced in 
response to the rising level of metal theft and required that all scrap metal 
dealers held a licence. Members were asked if they had any questions or 
comments arising from the report:

 One Member noted that it could be difficult to identify whether a scrap 
metal collector was licenced from a windscreen sticker alone and asked 
about the potential for providing collectors with a licenced identity card. 
Officers explained that the legislation dictated what form of verification 
mobile dealers needed to display and the only current requirement was 
for a licence to be displayed in the vehicle. It was highlighted that 

5



residents should always check that a person collecting scrap metal 
holds a collector’s licence. 

 Members asked if there was any potential for the Council to collect 
scrap metal as an alternative to licensing mobile collectors. As South 
Kesteven District Council was a member of the Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership, any waste collected would fall into the possession of the 
disposal authority, so there would be no potential for further revenue to 
be secured through a Council-run scheme. The Council did, however, 
provide alternative means for residents to dispose of scrap metal 
including the bulky household waste collection service and via the 
district recycling sites.  

 Officer were asked if the Council charged for issuing scrap metal 
licences. The charges were outlined in the fees and charges policy and 
were incurred on a cost recovery basis. 

 It was also asked whether the Council carried out enforcement action 
for non-licenced scrap metal dealers. This was a joint responsibility 
between the Council and the Police. 

Recommendations

 Officers and the Police to be thanked for their hard work to reduce 
the level of metal theft in South Kesteven

 Members note the report and request that an item be included in 
SK Today to inform residents about scrap metal disposal and 
householder responsibilities

26. Grounds Maintenance Update

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations presented the slides 
giving an update on the grounds maintenance service provided by 
EnvironmentSK. He explained that when EnvironmentSK became the 
Council’s grounds maintenance provider earlier in the year, in order to 
facilitate a smooth transition the maintenance specification was transferred 
from the previous contractor unchanged. There was now potential for 
opportunities to be taken to review the specification of the provision, in order 
to make budget savings or to complement the Council’s other initiatives. The 
Cabinet Member also highlighted the low level of complaints received since 
the contract had been taken over and reminded Members that roadside 
verges were not included in this contract; these were the responsibility of the 
Lincolnshire County Council Highways department. Member were asked if 
they had any questions arising from the presentation.

Noting the Cabinet Member’s comment regarding roadside verges, Members 
commented on the disparity between verge maintenance in different areas of 
the district. Bourne Town Council had paid for extra cuts to be undertaken 
throughout the year. Members considered if extra cuts could be carried out in 
Grantham. The cost for this would need to be met by the Grantham Special 
Expense Area. It was noted that the overall Council Tax precept (which 

6



included SEAs) could not be raised over 5% without a district-wide 
referendum, so careful consideration would need to be given to any potential 
extra charges for Special Expense Areas. 

Members discussed the potential for introducing managed biodiversity areas, 
noting other areas where this had been successful, as well as instances 
where this had been less well-managed. Members were keen not to develop 
these areas simply by stopping grass cutting; close monitoring and 
management of any biodiversity sites would be required. It was noted that 
additional maintenance works such as this would be easier to facilitate under 
the new grounds maintenance provider, but the cost of introducing such areas 
would need to be established. Members discussed the small managed 
biodiversity area already in place at Grantham Crematorium, and asked if 
indicative costs could be produced based on the maintenance costs of that 
site. Officers explained that as Grantham Crematorium was already a heavily 
monitored and maintained site, costs could differ compared to the potential of 
introducing new sites elsewhere in the district. During discussion, Members 
questioned whether biodiversity areas could be encouraged in other areas 
such as new housing developments. The committee was reminded that the 
Council could only introduce or require such projects on its own land. 

Action point

 Officers to consult with EnvironmentSK and report back to the 
committee with examples and indicative costs for introducing 
managed wildflower biodiversity areas in the district, to begin 
with one area in each town

 The Chairman requested that any key stakeholders are identified 
when investigating potential trial areas

Recommendation

 The Officers and Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
are thanked for the information provided 

 The grounds maintenance update is noted 
 The principle of increased tree planting and the introduction of 

managed biodiversity wildflower areas is encouraged in future 
grounds maintenance specifications 

27. Climate Change

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations presented the 
committee with the recommendations that had been forwarded from the 
Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group, as below:

1. To recommend to Cabinet that in addition to the £50,000 funding 
already agreed at Council for climate change objectives, a further 
£20,000 reserve be established from the 2020/21 budget, for climate 

7



change action quick wins, smalls works and carbon efficiencies; this 
reserve could be drawn down from as specific initiatives are identified 
during the course of the Task and Finish Group’s work.  

2. To recommend to Cabinet that the Council’s decision making and 
report templates are changed to include a ‘carbon and climate change 
impact assessment’ and that budget bids within the 2020/21 process 
are required to identify whether they are carbon positive, neutral or 
negative.  

Members were asked if they had and questions regarding the first 
recommendation:

 Members commented that in principle, the recommendation seemed a 
positive step which would support the Council in its climate change 
objectives by allowing immediate action to be taken once identified. 
Members asked how the use of the reserve would be scrutinised for 
value for money. It was explained that the Climate Change Task and 
Finish Group could not identify specific costs until the Council’s carbon 
baseline and management plan had been established. However, once 
this had been undertaken, further details of costs would be able to be 
shared with the Committee

Members were then asked if they had any questions or comments on the 
second recommendation:

 Members welcomed the recommendation and felt that including a 
climate change impact assessment on all reports would support the 
Council’s climate change objectives

The committee agreed to the recommendations as suggested by the Climate 
Change Action Task and Finish Group

Recommendations

 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommend 
to Cabinet that in addition to the £50,000 funding already agreed at 
Council for climate change objectives, a further £20,000 reserve 
be established from the 2020/21 budget, for climate change action 
quick wins, smalls works and carbon efficiencies; this reserve 
could be drawn down from as specific initiatives are identified 
during the course of the Task and Finish Group’s work.  

 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommend 
to Cabinet that the Council’s decision making and report 
templates are changed to include a ‘carbon and climate change 
impact assessment’ and that budget bids within the 2020/21 
process are required to identify whether they are carbon positive, 
neutral or negative.

8



 If approved by Cabinet, any spend from the proposed £20k climate 
change reserve to be reported to future meetings of the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

28. Textile Banks/Recycling

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations gave a verbal 
explanation of the current provision for textile recycling in the district. As a 
waste collection authority, the Council did not allow textiles to be included in 
recycling bins as they were not classified as domestic waste. There was a 
requirement for the Council to provide licences for the charity street textile 
collections. 

One Member believed that the Council’s environmental credentials would be 
improved through involvement in textile recycling. He gave an example of a 
charity textile bank in a church car park that had been an easy initiative and 
had provided the church with a small source of income. He asked that the 
Committee consider the possibility of introducing charity textile banks on 
Council-owned land. 

Some Members of the Committee expressed concern as to the implications of 
over-filling textile banks and the potential cost to the Council for monitoring 
such sites. The Chairman also highlighted some ethical concerns regarding 
the recycling of textiles based on information provided on the Bureau of 
International Recycling’s website. Whilst the Committee discussed the 
potential for introducing a number of trial sites, this was not upheld as a 
recommendation.  

The subject of a Council-operated bag collection for textiles was discussed. 
Members felt that this might add a layer of trust to household collections and 
might give the Council greater influence over the location and destination of 
collected textiles. However, this option was not upheld as a recommendation. 

A vote was taken on providing Council-operated or controlled textile recycling 
facilities additional to the current third party collections and the Domestic 
Recycling Facilities, and was not upheld as a recommendation. 

29. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy

The Chairman asked if any members of the committee wished to volunteer for 
the upcoming workshop regarding Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy. The following Members volunteered:

 Councillor Nicky Manterfield
 Councillor Gloria Johnson
 Councillor Chris Benn

9



 Councillor John Cottier

30. Western Power Distribution -  feedback from local investment workshop

The Chairman of the Committee gave a brief account of his attendance at the 
recent Western Power Distribution workshop in Grantham. It was felt that 
building further connections with such stakeholders would be advantageous 
for the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee moving forward. A 
volunteer was sought to attend future meetings and liaise as necessary. 
Councillor Jacky Smith, a non-committee Member, volunteered for this role. It 
was noted that if a formal representative was requested by WPD, this would 
need to be formalised at Council. The Chairman reminded Members that all 
Councillors were free to attend WPD meetings if they were interested and 
wished to do so. 

31. Performance Indicators

The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations presented the slides on 
waste management performance indicators. He explained that as a member 
of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP), the Council’s waste 
management service was guided by the Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy (JMWMS) and its associated targets. The targets measured by the 
JMWMS addressed the performance of the LWP as a whole, but the 
committee were asked to consider whether they also wished to introduce 
performance indicators to measure the performance of South Kesteven 
District Council as a collection authority individually. Examples of potential 
performance indicators were given. The committee was reminded that 
although it could be beneficial to measure performance by looking at specific 
targets locally, the Council would need to be pragmatic when identifying 
targets in order to differentiate between areas the Council could control 
directly and those which were influenced by external factors. 

The Chairman asked Members of the Committee to consider which 
performance indicators they would like to see presented at future meetings. 
Members felt that a bi-annual update would be sufficient for performance 
measures to be reported. Any ideas could be forwarded to the Chairman or 
Officers prior to the next meeting, when the item would be discussed in further 
detail.

Action point

 Members to forward any ideas for potential waste management 
performance indicators in advance of the next meeting

Recommendation

 Waste management performance indicators to be presented to the 
committee on a bi-annual basis

10



32. Work programme

The Chairman decided to close the meeting at 12:52 to allow for another 
meeting to begin in the room. 

One Member felt that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee should take 
priority over other meetings and expressed concern over changes in location 
and times of meetings.    

Action point

 The Work Programme to be circulated to Members of the 
Committee by email

 The date to be confirmed for an Officer from Planning to attend a 
future meeting of the Committee

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Environment OSC and Licensing Committee 
Working Group

Feedback from the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy workshop

Workshop Conclusions 

The use of e-cigarettes and vaping devices in licensed vehicles

• to be incorporated into the SKDC penalty point scheme, the same 
penalty as tobacco cigarettes – 3 points

Encouraging environmental sustainability 

• decrease maximum vehicle age at first license from 7 to 5 years 

• extend the licensed vehicle age limit from 10 to 12 years for wheelchair 
accessible vehicles, hybrid, ultra low and zero emission vehicles 

• maintain the 20% annual vehicle licence discount for LPG, hybrid, ultra 
low and zero emission vehicles  

• investigate the use of SK penalty points for engine idling on ranks

1

2

13

Agenda Item 7



Driver knowledge and language proficiency

• maintain the existing local knowledge and arithmetic tests and use an 
externally provided English language test for new drivers (also to be 
applied to existing drivers where there are concerns) 

• applicants with a qualification taught and examined in English will be 
exempt 

• Cost of test to be passed to applicants (currently £28.99)

3

14



Environment Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee: 

Climate Change Action Task and Finish 
Group Update

25/2/20

Context

• The Climate Change Task and Finish Group had a good session on the 
28/1/20

• Over 30 different projects to improve efficiency and reduce our carbon 
footprint were considered, looking at areas including energy saving, 
travel and transport and waste and recycling

• Two main projects were proposed for immediate further consideration:

1. Move to LED lighting as standard in St. Peter’s Hill and South 
Kesteven House

2. Investigate measures to reduce paper use across Council 
operations

1

2

15

Agenda Item 8



LED lighting

LED light fittings for St. Peter’s Hill and South Kesteven House

Rationale: 

• Cost for electricity for St. Peter’s Hill and SK House was over £62,000 
in 2018/19

– Lighting can consume between 20-40% of total electricity use in 
large offices

– LED bulbs use around 25% of the energy of a typical incandescent 
bulb

Proposal – re-lamping light fittings to be compatible with LEDs:

- Ageing infrastructure means that many of the light fittings are 
approaching end of life 

- Estimated carbon saving of 20.8 tonnes through reduction in 
electricity use

3

4

16



LED light fittings for St. Peter’s Hill and South Kesteven House

Re-lamping light fittings in St. Peter’s Hill and South Kesteven House 
to LED

• Circa £47,000 + VAT for replacing fittings and tubes for St. Peter’s Hill

• Circa £14,000 + VAT for SK House

 Suggested payback period of 5.8 years for work at St. Peter’s Hill (not 
including motion sensor installation)

Combining re-lamping work to include motion sensor lights

• There is the option to combine the relamping work with installing motion 
sensor lights in communal areas (corridors, stairways, main staff area 
and general circulation spaces)

• Indicative cost of £5,000 for including this work

Reducing the use of paper across SKDC

5

6

17



Paper use across SKDC

Committees and agenda packs

– Indicative figure of 680,000 sheets of paper used for agenda packs= 
272 boxes of paper each year

– Need to provide members of the public with the ability to access and 
read agenda papers during a meeting

– Certain committees, particularly Planning Committee, have a larger 
use of printed documents including maps

General office printing

– Printer numbers have now been reduced by 70% in St. Peter’s Hill –
this may deliver a reduction in printing

Wider communications

– Letters sent to residents and members of the public – some of these 
are a legal requirement

– Offering paper is the default, but many may prefer to access 
services and communicate with SKDC electronically

Approach- Committees and Agenda packs

Councillors and officers:

• Consider committees on a case by case basis. Could the Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee trial paper free meetings? Councillors 
can legally withdraw their (implied) consent for electronic papers at any time

• Some ways to immediately reduce printing burden:

– Encourage Councillors to move away from paper forms wherever 
possible (e.g. online or electronic form for mileage claims, ward member 
grant applications etc)

– Invest in private part of ModernGov, to avoid the need for printing of 
exempt papers for Councillors and officers. Councillors receive papers 
faster, and it also reduces spend on disposal of confidential waste

– Consider use of a shared tablet for Democratic Services staff– can clerk 
on laptop whilst referring to agenda on iPad (indicative costs of £270 
per device, TBC)

7

8

18



Approach- Committees and Agenda packs

Public and press:

• Providing 2 or 3 tablets in public seating area. Use “Guided Access” so only
the public ModernGov app can be accessed. Use movable device locks so
that devices are not removed by the public, but can easily be taken for
charging by those with the code

• Indicative cost of £540 for two devices (TBC), plus £30 for two device locks

• Note at bottom of agenda front sheets asking citizens to notify SKDC if they
would like/need a printed copy available at the meeting

Approach – general office printing and wider communications

General office printing

• Liaise with IT to understand which services have the greatest printing 
burden per user profile, and why

• Communications to staff on how much is printed and regular prompts to 
reduce where possible

• Consider lower grade paper, lower toner usage, and limiting to black 
and white only in office printers

Wider communications

• Review systems – can we consider a digital first approach when 
communicating with residents?

9

10

19



Recommendations

• It is recommended that the Environment Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee:

1. Request that a bid is developed for the roll-out of LED lights within 
St Peter’s Hill & South Kesteven House.

2. Note and give their comments in terms of any paper reduction 
options they would like to be developed further for implementation.

11

20



Single-use plastics at SKDC

Serena Brown, Sustainability and Climate Change 
Officer

Zena West, Scrutiny Officer

Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee

25/2/20

The issue

- 275,000 tonnes of plastic used every year in 
UK

- One tonne = 20,000 plastic bottles

- Increasing public concern around ocean plastic 
pollution: the Blue Planet effect

- Plastic as a material

- Can offer environmental benefits compared 
to alternatives – is lightweight and low 
energy to produce, compared to glass or 
wood products

- Some plastic is essential – e.g. used in 
medical context

1

2

21

Agenda Item 9



Why should we reduce our use of single-use plastics?

- Plastic as a material

- Need to consider pointless plastic: where we 
can design out waste or reuse a plastic item 
to make the most of it

- Our aim should be to eliminate single-use items 
wherever possible and replace with a reusable 
alternative:

- Best option environmentally

- Offers financial saving – not buying single-
use items

- Saving in waste disposal

Where are single-use plastics used across SKDC?

- General office use of single use plastics may 
include:

- Single-use plastic cups provided next to water 
fountains

- Milk jiggers and plastic drinks stirrers

- Stationery including pens, document wallets and 
window envelopes

- Laminated documents

- Food and drink is a hotspot for the use of single 
use plastics. Items may include:

- Plastic cutlery

- Drinks bottles 

- Sandwich and takeaway packaging

- Disposable coffee cups (contain plastic liner)

3

4

22



Our influence

- Conduct analysis of single-use plastics purchased throughout 
SKDC operations

- Review contracts and understand where we can have a greater 
influence:

- Where operations include a café e.g. Arts Centres and Leisure 
centres

- Promote reuse and refilling wherever possible:

- Using a reusable water bottle

- Providing a stock of sturdy reusable cups for water next to water 
fountains 

- Offering a stock of reusable KeepCups as alternative to single-
use coffee cups

5

23



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Food Waste Collection

LWP 

Update  Feb 2020

Rationale - recap

Nationally

• Fall in recycling levels

• Government policy 2023

• Public perceptions

Locally

• Capacity at EfW facility

• Contamination of dry recyclables

• Gauge public acceptance

1

2

25

Agenda Item 10



Objectives

To assess

• the amount of food waste that can be collected on a weekly basis

• the impact on the different waste streams i.e. residual and recycling

• the impact on recycling rates

• the impact on the volume of residual waste sent to the EfW facility 

• the levels of participation and customer acceptance

• the collection costs

Methodology - recap

Collection

• Selected representative waste collection round (rural/urban)

• 4260 households issued with kerbside and kitchen caddies with liners

• Utilising refuse collection vehicle with food pod

• 1 additional operative

• Continued with alternate fortnightly co-mingled dry recyclables and 
residual 

• Food waste collected weekly

• Weight data collected for each waste stream

• ‘Set out’ rate of caddies logged on in cab device

• Independent recyclables contamination surveys

3

4

26



Publicity

• Four page information pack delivered with food waste containers

• Direct mailed letter to pilot area households

• Drop in sessions

• Engagement with Members and Parish Councils

• Press releases

• Website FAQs and information

• Extensive coverage by BBC radio and television

Disposal

• Food waste tipped into skip at existing transfer station 

• Transported to Hemswell Cliff anaerobic digestion plant

• Provides energy and soil conditioner product

Consultation

• Full and comprehensive survey undertaken – results previously    
presented to committee

Collection Costs

• LCC have provided funding for the Food waste collection as part of the 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

• Operating one round with associated transport costs to Hemswell Cliff 
anaerobic digestion plant is high cost due to diseconomies of scale

• Assessment of dedicated vehicle for collecting waste compared to 
current refuse vehicle with a food pod has been undertaken

5

6

27



Results – Year 1 onwards

Pre trial and current waste streams by weight

Period Residual Waste
(tonnes)

Dry Recyclate
(tonnes)

Food Waste (tonnes) Overall waste
(tonnes)

June 2017 to May 2018 1563 971 0 2534

June 2018 to May 2019 1318 990 314 2622

Change -245 (-15.7%) 19 (2%) +314 88 (3.5%)

June 2019 to December 
2019

781.78 593.64 186.66 1562.08

Current Findings - highlights

• Total food waste being collected equates to 6.2 tonnes per week 

• Average of 1.45 kg per property

• Food waste collected separately equates to 12% of the total waste 
produced

• Food waste recycling adds over 10% to the overall recycling 
performance

• Participation holds high at 72%

• Very strong customer support at 96%

Recommendation

• The Committee to note the contents of the Food Waste Trial update and 
provide comments/suggestions. 

7

8

28



Environment Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee: Trees in SKDC

25/2/20

Context

• SKDC has already established the:

– Local Government Charter for Trees, Woods & People: Principles

– Tree Guidelines: For the Management of Trees within South 
Kesteven District

– SKDC Member tree notification protocol

• SKDC supported National Tree Week & the Woodland Trust’s Big 
Climate Fightback in November 2019

• SKDC is working with the Wyndham Park Forum to plant 75 trees to 
establish a commemorative orchard as a lasting legacy of the 75th

anniversary of D-Day and Arnhem – supported by the first successful 
crowdfunding appeal through CrowdfundSK

• SKDC continues to liaise with the Woodland Trust

1

2

29

Agenda Item 11



SKDC Public Amenity Trees

Notes:
• Carbon storage & gross carbon sequestration value is calculated based on the price 

of £58.97 per ton.
• Avoided runoff value is calculated by the price £0.043/ft³. The user-designated 

weather station reported 8.5 inches of total annual precipitation.
• Pollution removal value is calculated based on the prices of £892.915 per ton (CO), 

£6,041.631 per ton (O3), £902.119 per ton (NO2), £328.621 per ton (SO2), 
£209,757.318 per ton (PM2.5).

• Structural value is the compensatory value calculated based on the local cost of 
having to replace a tree with a similar tree.

• (Source NKDC Arbortrack and I-Tree)

 

NUMB
ER OF 
TREES 

CARBON STORAGE  GROSS CARBON 
SEQUESTRATION 

AVOIDED RUN-OFF POLLUTION 
REMOVAL 

STRUCTURA
L VALUE 

TON £ TON/Y
R 

£/YR FT3/YR £/YR TON/
YR 

£/YR £ 

Total 6,738 1,937.03 114,220.98 55.17 3,252.92 85,290.08 3,662.20  2.43              22,939.55 7,734,544.51

Cost of Trees

• Typical tree replacement, supply & planting with stakes & ties £160-£200 per tree 
(specific species & or size can cost more). Young trees approx. 2-3m tall with 3.5-
4.1cm stem circumference (10-12 to 12-14 girth)

• Checking & irrigation as required during the first growing year £140-£250 per location, 
this can vary greatly & the assumption has been made that it will be an average year 
with average temperatures, rainfall etc.

• Space on suitable public amenity land is limited.  The costs for tree planting on non 
public amenity land is cheaper as samplings can be used but this requires the 
identification of willing landowners.

Planting Trees Cost

Average cost of tree £180

Average cost of maintenance in first year £195

Total £375

3

4

30



Tree Preservation Orders

Presentation to Environment OSC

25 February 2020

Sylvia Bland

Head of Development Management

Overview of Tree Preservation Orders in SKDC

• Total number of TPOs = 415

• Trees protected individually = 7346

• Tree protected as groups = 412

• Date of oldest TPO = 29 March 1954

• Average number made each year = 4.6 (measured Jan ‘15 – Dec ’19)

• Number of settlements with TPOs = 81

• Settlements with largest number of TPOs = Grantham 74, Stamford 47, 
Bourne 31, Market Deeping 17, Caythorpe 17, Castle Bytham 11

• All TPOs are available to view on Council’s website

1

2

31

Agenda Item 11



How to request a TPO be made

• Anyone can request a TPO be made, if there is valid reasoning

• The tree must be visible from a public place for it to warrant a TPO and a TPO can be 

made irrespective of species

• To request a Tree Preservation Order be considered, you should contact 

householderteam@southkesteven.gov.uk with the relevant details 

• Advice is taken from SKDC’s Consultant Tree Officer 

• TPOs can be made as a result of a planning application if there is a risk to or 

intention to remove a tree that would be worthy of a TPO

• TPOs are also made a result of Section 211 Notice for works to trees in a 

Conservation Area

Process for Making a TPO

• There are 4 types of TPOs – Individual Tree, Group, Area and 
Woodland.

• A LPA can make a TPO if it is “expedient in the interests of amenity to 
make provision for the preservation of trees or woodland in their area”

• Amenity is not defined in law therefore judgement

• There must be public benefit

• Visibility, characteristics and other factors

• Expediency relates to risk of felling, pruning or damage

• A consultation exercise is carried out before a TPO is made.

3

4

32



When a Tree has a TPO

• The following are prohibited if a TPO is in place: cutting down, topping, 
lopping, uprooting, wilful damage, wilful destruction

• Works to a tree or group of trees covered under a TPO must be approved 
prior to the works commencing.

• SKDC’s Tree Officer is consulted during the application process.

• If unlawful work commences to trees covered by a TPO, then this could 
result in enforcement action and a possible fine.

• It is also unlawful to carry out works to trees in a Conservation Area without 
giving the appropriate notice 

• A felling licence is required from the Forestry Commission, dependent on 
the volume of timber to be felled, even if the trees are not protected.

TPO Review 2020

• Planned project to review all TPOs in District 

• To be procured and commence in 2020

• External organisation to undertake survey

• Modern methods of survey and plotting

• Geographical basis for order of survey

• Internal staff to amend, revoke or make new TPOs

• Record in TPO module of Uniform (planning software)

• Available to Land Charges team

• TPOs to be available online

5

6

33



This page is intentionally left blank



Rewilding & Natural 
Meadows
Environment Overview & Scrutiny Committee

25/2/20

Introduction & Overview

 Environment OSC requested on the 26/11/19 for an update & options for ‘rewilding’

 Rewilding: Allowing nature to take back control and, as the area grows tall grasses & other 
plant species naturalise, this encourages wildlife, insects, birds and mammals.  Over time 
move species move in & this creates a balanced natural environment.

 Perennial meadows: Sowing a perennial flower seed mix or allowing areas initially to rewild 
to establish what is there, providing wildlife corridors and nectar bars for wildlife.  Unwanted 
plants can be removed & the area cut annually.

 Tiered land management: A method of providing differing habits within the same area.  
Central areas can be maintained with mown grass; moving out from the centre the grass is 
allowed to grow longer with less maintenance & interference; & moving out again, to the 
edges of the site, the areas are allowed to grow as nature intended.  The outer areas may 
well have saplings, bramble, field poppies and other such wild flowers, all of which provide 
not just habitat but food to numbers of species of mammals and insects.  These areas act 
as vital green corridors for wildlife including hedgehogs, bats and insects.

1

2

35

Agenda Item 11



Examples of existing SK areas of rewilding & 
natural meadows

 Grantham Cemetery – rewilding & spring meadow (circa £800 annually)

 St Guthlacs – meadow (no cost implication)

 Tattershall Drive – flowering meadow bund (£3,800 one-off & circa £65 annually)

Rewilding – an example – Grantham 
Cemetery plan of area
 On the hillside at the top Grantham Cemetery the area coloured green has been 

allowed to grow completely naturally over many years & the only enhancement 
has been the addition of some trees (area shown green is approx. 7,000 m², 
access path mown through shown dark green)

3

4

36



Perennial spring meadow - St Guthlacs 
closed burial ground - an example

 The church volunteers approached SKDC to stop cutting areas within the closed 
burial ground in early spring & not cut the areas until May of any given year

 The volunteers planted primroses, cowslips, snow drops & blue bells around the 
grave stones

 A pathway is cut through the grass from the entrance & follows round to the back 
of the site

 In approximately May each year, once
the flowers set seed the area is cut 
down & then cut as part of the grass 
cutting cycle (the clippings are not 
collected but allowed to go back into 
the sward and ultimately go back into 
the soil).

Perennial flowering bund - Tattershall 
Drive Market Deeping - an example

 The bund on both sides of the road was created as an access deterrent to dissuade travellers from 
using the area illegally (flower bund shown red on the plan – the change in the height of the bund 
also dissuades members of the public from treading down the soil harming germination)

 It achieved an abundance of insects, bees & other wildlife – the area has become a nectar bar, 
corridor between other locations and safe haven for wildlife to bask on sunny days and a place of 
shelter.

5

6

37



Options for Members

 Tattershall Drive - Market Deeping

 Jubilee Park - Deeping St James

 Queen Elizabeth, Wyndham & Dysart Parks - Grantham

 The Recreation Ground - Bourne

 Foxglove Play Area - Stamford

Areas for Members to consider rewilding

• Market Deeping – Tattershall Drive

• This area already has a 10m wide strip of land around the north end of the site

• This area could be extended and have a tiered approach, the original area would remain 
uncut

• Birch saplings could be planted within the location - may be available from the Woodland trust 
(FOC)

• A group of 3 larger trees could be planted at the North West Corner (£TBC)

• Another 10m strip of land would be managed by cutting twice a year, this area could be plug 
planted with meadow plants. The full costs of this would be dependant on the final design

• A pathway cut within the regular 3 weekly maintenance visits for visitors to the site to be 
encouraged to walk through this area (this is primarily the line of site path created by the 
visitors exercising and walking their dogs)

• Change to annual maintenance costs,  .11p per m² to 21p per m² (approximately1000m² 
would add £100.00 to the annual maintenance costs)

7

8

38



Overview of Tattershall Drive

Set aside. Birch 
saplings could be 
planted

New tiered grass 
cutting, twice annually, 
could be plug planted 
with meadow planting

Metre wide path cut for 
public access (already a 
line of sight & dog walking)

Grass cut every three 
weeks (as currently) 
maintained

Potential Perennial flowering bund-
Jubilee Park Deeping St James-

To provide wildlife habitat and nectar bar

 Protection for users of the site open to the road

 Protection from the road for unwanted access

Public access 
points 

9

10

39



Potential Perennial flowering bund-
Jubilee Park Deeping St James-

 Costings for project:

 Digging a trench and forming a bund approximately 450mm above existing ground level, which will 
be situated along the roadside edge of the Open Space in Thackers Way and Knight Close.

 The Bund will be set back 1000mm from the pavement edge and establish the outside boundary 
with the ditch formed on the inside of this. 

 Total of Area approx. 125m long x 2m wide

 No additional soil or other material will be brought to site or will need disposing of, as the material 
used for forming the bund will be taken when digging the ditch.

 £1986.88

 Change to future ongoing maintenance,  .11p per m² to 21p per m² (this would add £25.00 per 
annum to the cutting costs) and some responsive maintenance if required.

 Plug plants/spring bulbs – Local support?

Rewilding of rivers and grass land; Queen 
Elizabeth Park, Grantham

Overview

 Queen Elizabeth Park was developed in 1980 in the style of a country park and extends to 
approx. 25 acres.

 We are currently delivering a two stage strategic project to refurbish the park, protect and 
enhance biodiversity.

 Stage one (currently being delivered) is a park wide improvement project part funded by the 
MHCLG

 Stage two works, scheduled to commence this August, form part of the Grantham River 
Corridor project.

 Ecological survey data provided by the Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust has been used to direct the 
design of both projects. In addition external consultants, ecologists and the Environment 
Agency have influenced the Grantham River Corridor project.

 Volunteer involvement in both projects plays a key part in the long term management.

 We are in regular dialogue with community representatives via the Friends of Queen 
Elizabeth Park 

11

12

40



Queen Elizabeth Park –
meadow and wetland 
creation 

• Areas edged RED will be 
managed as meadowland. 
Development work has 
commenced and the 
maintenance strategy will change 
from March.

• Areas edged YELLOW form part 
of the Grantham River Corridor 
project and will be removed from 
routine  grass cutting this March 
– pending commencement of 
wetland creation works August.

• Area edged in GREEN will be 
developed as meadowland in 
tandem with the wetland creation 
project. 

• Potential to develop further 

Queen Elizabeth Park –
phase two works. A 
closer look:

• The plan identifies the scale of 
the wetland areas along with 
areas identified for meadow 
creation.

• Funding is in place to complete 
this project.

In addition to the creation of the 
wetland areas the Grantham River 
Corridor project will deliver:

• In channel works to enhance the 
biodiversity of the River Witham. 

• Tree management to improve 
biodiversity.

• We are about to commence 
consultation…

13

14

41



Queen Elizabeth Park – meadow creation 
only

Capital cost 
 Project Funded via MHCLG Pocket Parks 

Plus grant and SKDC capital funding  - FY 
2019/20

 £2500 (labour costs to prepare land, 
purchase seed, sow etc)

Revenue cost / saving 
 Revenue costs to SKDC; There will be no 

increase in revenue costs

 Revenue saving to SKDC; As volunteers 
and a local farmer will be maintaining the 
meadow land, on completion of the 
project the revised maintenance strategy 
will provide a net saving of £3715.19pa

Grantham, Wyndham and Dysart Parks

Wyndham Park;

Land edged green will be maintained as 
conservation areas

Dysart Park;

Land edged yellow will be developed and 
maintained as a wetland meadow

15

16

42



Areas to consider rewilding

• Bourne, The Recreation Ground 

• Rewilding area shown hatched green

• The location already benefits from                                                                                           
mature trees

• Area allowed to be left for nature to re-establish itself 
through rewilding

• Stopping cutting of 2000 m² would save £220 per year

Areas to consider rewilding

• Stamford - Foxglove play area

• Rewilding area shown hatched green

• The location already benefits from                                                                                           
mature trees

• Minimal costs to change maintenance regime

• Area allowed to be left for nature to re-establish itself

• Stopping cutting of 1500m² would save £165.00                                           per year

17

18

43



Key stakeholders

 Town/Parish Councils

 Ward Councillors

 Local interested groups

 Local residents

Recommendations

 It is recommended that the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee:

1. Consider the information and options presented and give views.

2. Share any further ideas for rewilding, perennial flower meadows, perennial 
flower bunds or tiered land management.

 Note: Any proposals will need to be costed and budgets identified

19

20

44


	Agenda
	5 Action Notes from the meeting held on 26 November 2019
	7 Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy
	8 Update from the Climate Change Action Task and Finish Group
	9 Single use plastic aspirations
	10 Food Waste Collection and Disposal
	11 Trees in South Kesteven
	TPO Presentation
	Rewilding and Natural Meadows Presentation


